
 

 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Agenda - Monday, June 05, 2023 - 6:00 PM 

 

 

Call to Order 

Roll Call 

Invocation given by Director Steven Hollibush 

Pledge of Allegiance led by Fire Chief David Fletcher 

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

A limit of five (5) minutes per person is allotted for citizens to express their concerns to the 

Board of Directors, with a maximum of fifty (50) minutes reserved for Citizens 

Communication.   The Board of Directors cannot respond to citizens’ concerns during this time. 

Please fill out a Citizen Communication Card with your name and contact information for the 

City Clerk's records. 

PRESENTATION(S) 

1. Presentation of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Employee Service Awards. (ADMIN)  

2. Presentation of the Miller County Hazard Mitigation Plan. (TAFD) Fire Chief David Fletcher 

and Katie Hardy with Southwest Arkansas Planning & Development District (SWAPDD) 

3. Presentation of the Comprehensive Plan. (PWD-Planning) City Planner Mary Beck  

CONSENT 

4. Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting May 15, 2023, and the special called meeting 

May 23, 2023.  (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

5. Adopt a Resolution approving the reimbursement of $37,683.00 to the Texarkana Regional 

Airport from American Rescue Act Funds. (FIN) Acting City Manager/Finance Director 

TyRhonda Henderson 

6. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a contract with McLarty 

Ford for the purchase of a 2023 F250 4x4 crew cab ¾ ton pickup truck.  (PARKS) Parks and 

Recreation Director Adam Dalby 



 

7. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a contract with Rorie 

Stone Construction, LLC, for the Old Blackman Ferry Road Water Extension Project. (TWU) 

Executive Director Gary Smith 

REGULAR 

8. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a construction contract 

with Francis Excavating, LLC, for Rolling Ridge Drive, Dudley Avenue and Woodland Road 

Rehabilitation Projects. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards  

9. Adopt a Resolution authorizing and directing the Acting City Manager to enter into an 

agreement with Crossties, LLC, and Crossties of Texarkana, Inc., to create a downtown event 

venue. (PARKS) Parks & Recreation Director Adam Dalby 

10. Adopt an Ordinance amending the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, Code of Ordinances Chapter 

27.5 for the Operation of Wreckers and Wrecker Businesses. (TAPD) Police Chief Michael 

Kramm 

11. Adopt an Ordinance to rezone a tract of land located at 3604 North Stateline Avenue, from C-

3 Open-display commercial zoning to C-1 General retail commercial in order to divide the 

property. (Ward 4) (PWD-Planning) City Planner Mary Beck  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' COMMENTARY 

NEXT MEETING DATE: Tuesday, June 20, 2023 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

12. Adopt a Resolution making an appointment to the City Beautiful Commission and the Library 

Board. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

ADJOURN 

 

2023 City Calendar 

Gateway Farmers Market - Open Tuesdays, Thursdays, Saturdays - 7AM- Noon 

Gateway Farmers Market Grand Opening - Saturday, June 17th - 7AM - Noon 

Sesquicentennial Ball – July 8th 

Gateway Farmers Market National Farmers Market Week - Saturday, July 15th - 7AM - Noon 

Gateway Farmers Market Salsa Contest - Saturday, August 5th - 7AM - Noon 

Gateway Farmers Market Fall Tailgates & Tables - Saturday, September 16th - 8AM - 2PM 

 

Texarkana Rec Center Calendar 

Ageless Grace - Mondays – 2PM – 3PM 

Gym Open - Mondays, Wednesdays & Fridays – 8AM - 7PM & Saturdays - 8AM – Noon 

Dance Fitness - Tuesdays - 6PM & Saturdays - 11AM 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Presentation of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Employee Service 

Awards. (ADMIN)  

AGENDA DATE: June 5 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☐  Other☒: Presentation 

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk Department 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

REQUEST: Presentation of employee service awards. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Employee Service Awards: 

 

Alan Collins TAPD 5 Years 

Christopher Cagle TWU 5 Years 

Ricky Hernandez TWU 5 Years 

Michael Thomas TWU 5 Years 

Robert Kunert TWU 15 Years 
 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

N/A 

EXHIBITS: None 

 



Moving 
forward

Comments about the consolidated Plan



What the plan does
Managing expections



What the plan does:

General Purposes

To provide tools for the City, Redi, 
Chamber, and others to promote 
the City. 

Provides recommendations & 
guidance for development of land 
uses, building types, activities, etc.  
Inclusive of public input to benefit 
local investment and quality of life. 

What those tools are

Maps that illustrate the community 
condition and vision

Survey results that show local 
interests and desires

Analysis of strengths and 
weaknesses 

How the tools apply

Population map – Shows locations of 
dwellings 

Permit map – Shows where investment 
has occurred

Master street plan – Shows connectivity 
and plans for connectivity

Trails connections – Shows bike/ped 
travel options now and future

Land use map – Shows what is currently 
happening on the ground.

Future land use and master plan – Puts 
together the information to guide 
development



Maps to evaluate conditions and guide growth



Water 
and 

Sewer 
Map 



Population 
Density 

One Dot=One 
Person



Existing Street  
Classification Map 

7



Residential 
Permits 

2015-2021

8



Existing 
Land Use 

Map 



Future Land 
Use & Master 
Street  Plan  



What the plan doesn’t do

Doesn’t address individual issues of land use

Doesn’t make decisions in place of the City process

Doesn’t impede changing conditions adaptability



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting May 15, 2023, and the 

special called meeting May 23, 2023.  (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

AGENDA DATE: June 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☐  Other☒: Minutes 

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk Department 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

REQUEST: Approval of meeting minutes. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Approval of meeting minutes 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

The City Clerk recommends Board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Meeting minutes. 

 



 

 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Minutes - Monday, May 15, 2023 - 6:00 PM 

 

 

Mayor Allen Brown called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. 

PRESENT: Mayor Allen Brown, Assistant Mayor Ward 1 Terry Roberts, Ward 2 Director Laney 

Harris, Ward 3 Director Steven Hollibush, Ward 4 Director Ulysses Brewer, Ward 5 Director 

Danny Jewell, and Ward 6 Director Jeff Hart.  

ALSO PRESENT: Acting City Manager/Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson, City Attorney 

Joshua Potter, City Clerk Heather Soyars, and Deputy City Clerk Jenny Narens.  

*Director Brewer arrived at 6:01 PM. * 

Invocation given by Mayor Brown. 

Pledge of Allegiance led by David Carlton, Troop 86 Senior Patrol Leader. 

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

The following persons spoke about the flooding problem on Savannah Circle, not only in the yards 

but also in the street.    

 Juanita Ardwin, property owner on Savannah Circle. 

 Lynn Lawson, 4214 Savannah Circle. 

 Delbert Henry, 4218 Savannah Circle.  

Christina Tutt, spoke about the problems she had with the Animal Care and Adoption Center.  

Mr. Hollis spoke with regards to the parking lot on Arkansas Boulevard by the Nix Creek Walking 

Trail. 

Sherry Hurley, 1709 Pearl Street, wanted to let the Board know about the water flooding problem 

and road conditions in the College Hill area.   

Director Harris gave a presentation regarding the road conditions in his Ward.  

Fire Chief David Fletcher wanted to advise the Board of Directors that at the next meeting, Katie 

Hardy with Southwest Arkansas Planning and Development District (SWAPDD), would give a 

presentation regarding the hazardous mitigation plan.   



 

 

PROCLAMATIONS 

1. Proclamation presented to Chief Michael Kramm for Police Appreciation Week, May 14-20, 

2023. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

2. Proclamation presented to Public Works Director Tyler Richards for Public Works 

Appreciation Week, May 21-27, 2023. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

PRESENTATION 

3. Public Works Update. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards.  

*Assistant Mayor Roberts left the Board Room at 7:11 PM and returned at 7:14 PM. * 

CONSENT 

Director Harris requested Item 8. Adopt a Resolution declaring Public Works equipment surplus 

and authorizing disposal in accordance with Arkansas Law. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler 

Richards, be removed from the Consent agenda.  

Director Hart made the motion to adopt the Consent agenda, Seconded by Assistant Mayor 

Roberts.  The motion carried and the following items were approved: 

4. Approval of the minutes of the special called meeting at 12:00 PM on April 27, 2023, the 

regular meeting at 6:00 PM on May 1, 2023, and the special called meeting at 5:00 PM on 

May 8, 2023.  (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

5. Resolution No. 2023-39 approved the reimbursement of $10,335.33 to the Texarkana 

Regional Airport from American Rescue Act Funds. (FIN) Acting City Manager/Finance 

Director TyRhonda Henderson  

6. Resolution No. 2023-40 authorized the Acting City Manager to enter into a contract with 

Artex Electric for the purchase and installation of poles and LED lighting at Field 1 of the 

Pondexter Sports Complex. (PARKS) Parks and Recreation Director Adam Dalby 

7. Resolution No. 2023-41 authorized the Acting City Manager to enter into a Purchase 

Agreement with Ledwell & Son Enterprises, Inc., for a 2,000 Gallon Water Truck. (PWD) 

Public Works Director Tyler Richards  

9. Resolution No. 2023-42 authorized the Acting City Manager to enter into a Construction 

Contract with Jack Yates Drywall, Inc., for the Rehabilitation of City Hall Restrooms. (PWD) 

Public Works Director Tyler Richards  

REGULAR 

8. Resolution No. 2023-43 declared Public Works equipment surplus and authorized disposal in 

accordance with Arkansas Law. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Hart, Seconded by 

Director Brewer. 



 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 

10. Resolution No. 2023-44 approved the Airport Authority to enter into an agreement with the 

Yates Foundation, LLC., to name the new terminal the “Jim E. Yates Terminal”. (AIRPORT) 

Airport Director Paul Mehrlich 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Hart, Seconded by 

Director Brewer. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 

11. Resolution No. 2023-45 accepted the proposed redistricting wards map. (ADMIN) Acting 

City Manager/Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Assistant Mayor Roberts, 

Seconded by Director Hollibush.    

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 

12. Ordinance No. 18-2023 authorized the Board of Directors to amend Section 17-4 of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, Code of Ordinances and provide for certain new fees for the rental 

and use of Front Street Festival Plaza. (PARKS) Parks and Recreation Director Adam Dalby 

After a brief discussion, the motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its first reading 

in abbreviated form made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the first time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Brewer, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Assistant mayor Roberts, Seconded by Director Hollibush. 



 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Director Hart, Seconded by Director Hollibush. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

Motion to enact the emergency clause made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor 

Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against the emergency clause. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the emergency clause enacted. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' COMMENTARY 

Director Brewer told the residents of Savannah Circle he would be in touch with them and hoped 

to resolve the water problem. 

Director Hart thanked the Yates Foundation, LLC. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The Board of Directors entered Executive Session at 7:58 PM. 

*Assistant Mayor Roberts left the Board Room at 8:09 PM and returned at 8:11 PM. * 

The Mayor reconvened the meeting at 8:15 PM, and no action was taken.  

NEXT MEETING DATE: Monday, June 5, 2023 

ADJOURN 

Motion to adjourn made by Director Hart, Seconded by Director Hollibush.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  



 

The motion carried 7-0 and the meeting adjourned at 8:15 PM. 

APPROVED this the 5th day of June 2023. 

 

____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

____________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

Special Called Meeting of the Board of 

Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Minutes - Tuesday, May 23, 2023 - 4:30 PM 

 

 

Mayor Allen Brown called the meeting to order at 4:30 PM. 

PRESENT: Mayor Allen Brown, Assistant Mayor Ward 1 Terry Roberts, Ward 2 Director Laney 

Harris, Ward 3 Director Steven Hollibush, and Ward 5 Director Danny Jewell.  

ALSO, PRESENT: City Clerk Heather Soyars. 

ABSENT: Ward 4 Director Ulysses Brewer, and Ward 6 Jeff Hart. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The Board of Directors entered Executive Session at 4:33 PM to interview a candidate for the city 

manager position via Zoom. 

The Mayor reconvened the meeting at 5:26 PM, and no action was taken. 

ADJOURN 

Motion to adjourn made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Ward 1 Terry Roberts, Ward 2 Director Laney Harris, 

Ward 3 Director Steven Hollibush, and Ward 5 Director Danny Jewell. 

The motion carried 5-0 and the meeting adjourned at 5:27 PM. 

APPROVED this the 5th day of June 2023. 

 

____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

____________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk 

 

 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution approving the reimbursement of $37,683.00 to the 

Texarkana Regional Airport from American Rescue Act Funds. (FIN) 

Acting City Manager/Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson 

AGENDA DATE: 05/15/2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Finance Department 

PREPARED BY: TyRhonda Henderson, Acting City Manager/Finance Director  

REQUEST: N/A 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: The American Rescue Act Fund was approved by the City of Texarkana, 

Arkansas Board of Directors on December 20, 2021 with resolution 

2021-65. This budget allocated $972,090 in 2021 and the remaining 

$656,637 in 2022. Of the total $1,628,727, $323,262.33 has been spent. 

The purpose of this agenda item is to approve the reimbursement of 

$37,683.00 to the Texarkana Regional Airport for engineering services 

in connection with the Terminal Parking Lot Construction. As this would 

be considered a general governmental service, it is eligible for 

reimbursement due to the City receiving less than $10 million from the 

American Rescue Plan Act.     

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $37,683.00 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $37,683.00 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval 

EXHIBITS: Resolution and invoice 

 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, allocated American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Funds remain available 

for use in accordance with applicable law and restriction; and 

 WHEREAS, of the total ARPA funds allocated, $1,628.727.00, the total spent to 

date is $323,262.33; and  

 WHEREAS, an eligible use of a portion of such funds is to reimburse the Airport 

Authority for $37,683.00 incurred in connection with the terminal parking lot construction; 

and  

 WHEREAS, the Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the reimbursement described herein is approved and, further, 

all applicable City budgets are appropriately amended.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of June, 2023.   

 

     _____________________________ 

                Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 

 







 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a 

contract with McLarty Ford for the purchase of a 2023 F250 4x4 crew 

cab ¾ ton pickup truck.  (PARKS) Parks and Recreation Director Adam 

Dalby 

AGENDA DATE: June 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Parks and Recreation Department 

PREPARED BY: Adam Dalby, Parks and Recreation Director 

REQUEST: Adopt a resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a 

contract with McLarty Ford for the purchase of a 2023 F250 4x4 crew 

cab ¾ ton pickup truck.   

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: A resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a contract 

with McLarty Ford for the purchase of a 2023 F250 4x4 crew cab ¾ ton 

pickup truck in the amount of fifty thousand and four hundred and forty-

nine dollars and thirty four cents ($50,449.34). 

The City solicited bids on April 23rd and April 30th, 2023. 

One bid was received as listed below: 

McClarty Ford        $50,449.34 

Authorization of this purchase meets all bidding requirements.  Funds 

were budgeted and are available for this purchase. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $50,449.34 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $50,449.34 ($50,449.34 from Advertising and Promotion Commission, 

approved October 19, 2022) 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0.00 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Acting City Manager and staff recommend Board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, Quote, Bid Ad and Bid Tab 

 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, upon advertisement, a low bid was submitted to the Parks and 

Recreation Department by McLarty Ford in the amount of $50,449.34 for the purchase of 

a 2023 F250 4x4 crew cab ¼ ton pickup truck; and  

 WHEREAS, funds for the purchase of the F250 crew cab pickup truck were 

awarded from the Advertising and Promotion Commission and are available; and  

 WHEREAS, the Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Acting City Manager is authorized to enter into a contract 

with McLarty Ford for the purposes and in the amount set forth above.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of June, 2023.   

 

       ______________________________ 

              Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 

 











 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a 

contract with Rorie Stone Construction, LLC, for the Old Blackman 

Ferry Road Water Extension Project. (TWU) Executive Director Gary 

Smith 

AGENDA DATE: June 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Texarkana Water Utilities 

PREPARED BY: Gary Smith, P.E., Executive Director 

REQUEST: Resolution authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract for the 

Old Blackman Ferry Road Water Extension Project. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: None needed. 

SUMMARY: Resolution authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract for the 

Old Blackman Ferry Road Water Extension Project in an amount not to 

exceed $68,684.00. Bids were received ATTH 01 Tuesday, May 16, 

2023 for the Old Blackman Ferry Road Water Extension Project.  Two 

contractors bid on the project.  Rorie Stone Construction of New Boston, 

Texas was the apparent low bidder with a low Base Bid of $68,684.00 

ATTH 02.  This project consists of the placement of approximately 

1,288 linear feet of six-inch (6”) water main, two fire hydrant 

assemblies, and all associated work and appurtenances. $100,000.00 was 

budgeted in the Utility’s 2022-2023 Budget in the Union Depreciation 

Fund.          

 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $68,684.00 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $100,000.00 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$68,684.00 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Utility staff recommends approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, ATTH 01 Bid Summary and ATTH 02 Bid Tabulation 

 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, upon advertisement, a low bid was submitted to Texarkana Water 

Utilities (TWU) by Rorie Stone Construction, LLC, in the amount of $68,684.00 for the 

Old Blackmon Ferry Road Water Extension Project (consisting of the placement of 

approximately 1,288 linear feet of six-inch (6”) water main, two (2) fire hydrant 

assemblies, and all associated work and appurtenances); and 

 WHEREAS, $100,000.00 was budgeted in the TWU 2022-2023 Budget in the 

Union Depreciation Fund and are available; and   

 WHEREAS, the Acting City Manager and Texarkana Water Utilities staff 

recommends approval;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Acting City Manager is authorized to enter into a contract 

with Rorie Stone Construction, LLC, for the purposes set forth above with funding from 

the sources so indicated.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of June, 2023.   

 

      _______________________________ 

                Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 



ATTH 02



ATTH 01 

  

 Bid Summary 
 
 

Old Blackman Ferry Road Water Extension 
 

2:00 P.M. Tuesday, May 16, 2023 
 
 
 

                                    Base Bid   
 

1. RBIS, LLC   $ 83,108.00   
Texarkana, Arkansas   
 

2. Kampco, Inc.   No Bid   
Texarkana, Arkansas  
 

3. Bobo & Bain Construction, Inc.   No Bid   
Hope, Arkansas   
 

4. Stone Construction   $ 68,684.00   
New Boston, Texas  
 
 
  
 
 
 
                    Time First Bid Opened:  2:00 P.M  
 
                    Number of Bidders:  2 
 
                    Apparent Low Bidder:  Stone Construction  
 

 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a 

construction contract with Francis Excavating, LLC, for Rolling Ridge 

Drive, Dudley Avenue and Woodland Road Rehabilitation Projects. 

(PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards  

AGENDA DATE: 06/05/2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Public Works Department 

PREPARED BY: Tracie Lee, Assistant Public Works Director 

REQUEST: Adopt a resolution to Enter into a Construction Contract with Francis 

Excavating, LLC, for Rolling Ridge Drive, Dudley Avenue and 

Woodland Road Rehabilitation Projects. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: A resolution for the award of the construction contract to Francis 

Excavating, LLC, in the amount of nine hundred fifty-eight thousand 

one hundred twenty-five dollars and sixty-three cents ($958,125.63) for 

Rolling Ridge Drive, Dudley Avenue and Woodland Road 

Rehabilitation. 

The city solicited sealed bids on April 23rd and April 30th, 2023. On May 

11, 2023, a bid opening was conducted at City Hall for the referenced 

projects. three qualified bids were received that met the bidding 

requirements as listed below. 

Francis Excavating, LLC                   $   958,125.63 

Contech Contractors, Inc.                  $1,065,558.91 

Tatum Excavating Company, Inc.    $1,185,108.20 

Spears Engineering reviewed the bids and found no errors in the 

submission. The low bid by Francis Excavating, LLC, was accepted by 

the Public Works Director to be submitted to the Board of Directors for 

approval. After the bid letting alternatives for base repairs on Woodland 

were discussed with the low bidder. As a result of the base repairs a 

change order in the amount of $34,317.31 is required.  This change order 

will increase the contract to $992,442.94. 



Francis Excavating, LLC, is licensed in the State of Arkansas and is 

located in Nash, Texas. Francis Excavating, LLC, is very experienced 

and capable to complete the project.   

Award of this contract to Francis Excavating, LLC, meets all bidding 

requirements. Funds were budgeted and are available for the award of 

this contract. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $992,442.94 ($958,125.63 bid + $34,317.31 Change Order 1) 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $1,141,000.00 (includes construction and engineering fees) 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0.00 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Acting City Manager and staff recommend board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, Bid Tab, Francis Excavating Bid, Contech Bid, TEC Bid and 

Engineer’s Recommendation. 

 

 

  

 



 RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, upon advertisement, a low bid was submitted to Public Works 

Department (PWD) by Francis Excavating, LLC, in the amount of $958,125.63 for the 

Rolling Ridge Drive, Dudley Avenue, and Woodland Road Rehabilitation Projects; and 

WHEREAS, after the bid was accepted by PWD, alternatives for base repairs on 

Woodland Road were discussed with Francis Excavating, LLC, and a change order in the 

amount of $34,317.31 is required and will increase the total contract to $992,442.94; and   

 WHEREAS, $1,141,000.00 was budgeted and includes construction and 

engineering fees and the funds are available; and   

 WHEREAS, the Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Acting City Manager is authorized to enter into a contract 

with Francis Excavating, LLC, for the purposes set forth above with funding from the 

sources so indicated.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of June, 2023.   

 

        

______________________________ 

             Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 



































































































































 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution authorizing and directing the Acting City Manager 

to enter into an agreement with Crossties, LLC, and Crossties of 

Texarkana, Inc., to create a downtown event venue. (PARKS) Parks & 

Recreation Director Adam Dalby 

AGENDA DATE: June 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars 

REQUEST: Enter into an agreement with Crossties, LLC, and Crossties of 

Texarkana, Inc., to create a downtown event venue. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Enter into an agreement with Crossties, LLC, and Crossties of 

Texarkana, Inc., to create a downtown event venue. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

The Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution and agreement. 

 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, (The City) wishes to create an event 

venue inside Front Street Festival Plaza for the enjoyment and benefit to its citizens; and 

 WHEREAS, Crossties, LLC, and Crossties of Texarkana, Inc., (Crossties) own 

property inside Front Street Festival Plaza; and  

 WHEREAS, it is the desire of The City to enter into an agreement with Crossties 

to create an event venue consisting of Crossties properties and City properties; and  

 WHEREAS, the agreement between Crossties and The City provides for Crossties 

to allow The City unlimited use of its vacant lot behind the Crossties Indoor Event Venue 

and The City will allow Crossties to sell alcoholic beverages within the Front Street 

Festival Plaza designated areas, and Crossties will pay to The City 25 cents per drink for 

the first two (2) years and 50 cents per drink thereafter for all alcoholic beverages sold by 

Crossties concessions inside Front Street Festival Plaza, among other terms and conditions; 

and  

 WHEREAS, the Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Acting City Manager is authorized to enter into an 

agreement with Crossties for the purposes proposed and the terms contained in the attached 

agreement.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of June, 2023.   
 

       ______________________________ 

          Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

_________________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk  

 

APPROVED: 
 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

























 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt an Ordinance amending the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, Code 

of Ordinances Chapter 27.5 for the Operation of Wreckers and Wrecker 

Businesses. (TAPD) Police Chief Michael Kramm 

AGENDA DATE: June 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☒  Resolution☐  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Texarkana, Arkansas Police Department  

PREPARED BY: Police Chief Michael Kramm 

REQUEST: The Board of Directors to consider adoption of the attached ordinance 

regarding the operation of wreckers and wrecker businesses 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: To accommodate the need for increased pricing for wrecker services and 

to update language used within the ordinance governing the operational 

requirements of wrecker businesses.  

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A  

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Approval by the Board of Directors 

EXHIBITS: Ordinance  

 



ORDINANCE NO. _________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 27.5 OF 

THE CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS, CODE 

OF ORDINANCES, TO UPDATE THE PRICING 

AND LANGUAGE GOVERNING THE 

OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS OF 

WRECKER BUSINESSES, AND FOR OTHER 

PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, a request has been made to update Chapter 27.5, which deals with the 

operation and regulation of wrecker companies; and 

 WHEREAS, the basis of the request is to increase the prices for wrecker services 

and update the language used within the ordinance governing the operational requirements 

for wrecker businesses; and  

 WHEREAS, the Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that Chapter 27.5 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 

Chapter 27.5 - WRECKERS [1] 

ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL 

Secs. 27.5-1—27.5-10. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II. - IMPOUND WRECKERS [2] 

Sec. 27.5-11. - Definitions. 

For the purposes of this article, the following terms shall have the meanings 

respectively ascribed to them by this section: 

Rotation wrecker: A wrecker service holding a valid wrecker permit. 



Consent Tow: Any tow of a motor vehicle initiated by the owner or operator of the 

vehicle or by a person who has possession, custody, or control of the vehicle. The term 

does not include a tow of a motor vehicle initiated by a peace officer investigating a traffic 

accident or a traffic incident that involves the vehicle.  

Wrecker company: A person who owns, controls, or has a financial interest in one 

or more wrecker services. 

Wrecker service: The business of towing or removing wrecked or disabled vehicles 

from the street upon the request of the chief of police or his designee. 

Permitted wrecker: A wrecker which has the proper permit affixed and is authorized 

by the City to tow vehicles which are taken into police custody or taken into custody 

pursuant to authority of the police. 

Motor vehicle: Every vehicle, as herein defined, that is self-propelled whether it is 

operable or not. 

Non-consent tow: Any tow of a motor vehicle that is not a consent tow, provided 

however, that nothing in this chapter shall be interpreted so as to abridge the rights of an 

owner or operator of a vehicle involved in a traffic accident or traffic incident. 

Owner: A person who holds legal title to a vehicle, or who has legal right of 

possession of a vehicle, or legal right to control of a vehicle. 

Person: An individual, assumed name entity, partnership, joint-venture, 

association, corporation, or other legal entity. 

Rotation: An occasion when the chief of police or his designee calls a permitted 

wrecker from the rotation list to remove a wrecked or disabled vehicle or vehicle which 

has been impounded or taken into the custody of the police. 

Street: Any street, alley, avenue, lane, square, or highway within the corporate 

limits of the City. 

Vehicle: Every device in, upon, or by which any person or property is or may be 

transported or drawn upon a street, except devices moved by human power or used 

exclusively upon stationary rails or tracks and shall include trailers and semi-trailers. 

Wrecked vehicle: A vehicle or motor vehicle that has been damaged as the result of 

overturning or colliding with another vehicle, motor vehicle, or object to reasonably 

necessitate that the vehicle or motor vehicle be removed by a wrecker. 

Wrecker: A vehicle designed to be used primarily for removing wrecked or disabled 

vehicles for compensation. 

Wrecker rotation list: A list of permitted wrecker companies. 

Sec. 27.5-12. - Permits required. 



No person shall drive, or cause to be operated, nor shall any person employ, permit, 

or allow another to drive, operate, or cause to be operated any wrecker over any street in 

the City for the purpose of removing, moving, or towing, for compensation a vehicle which 

has been impounded or ordered to be taken into police custody, nor shall any person accept 

compensation for the removing, moving, or towing of any such vehicle without first having 

obtained from the City, under the provisions of this article, a permit authorizing such 

operations and acts of such wrecker vehicle. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 2, 4-5-82) 

Sec. 27.5-13. - Application for permit. 

(a) No person may engage in any wrecker service inside the City without first 

obtaining a wrecker company permit from the chief of police. Only one permit may be 

issued to each wrecker company. A permit is not assignable or transferable. Wrecker 

company permits expire on the thirty-first day of December of each year. The permit issued 

to a wrecker company authorizes its qualified employees to engage in wrecker services.  

Wrecker permittees must be located within Miller County, Arkansas. 

(b) A person desiring to engage in rotation wrecker services in the City shall file 

with the chief of police a written application upon a form provided for that purpose which 

must be signed by the applicant or his authorized agent. The application shall include, but 

not be limited to, the following information: 

(1) Trade name, address, and telephone number of the wrecker company for both 

day and night twenty-four (24) hours services. 

(2) Name, address, and telephone number of the owner(s), partners and/or 

stockholders. 

(3) Number and type of wreckers to be operated. 

(4) An agreement that the applicant will participate in the wrecker rotation list and 

abide by the requirements set forth by the article. 

(5) Name, address, date of birth and driver’s license numbers of all 

drivers/operators. 

(c) In addition, the following shall accompany every application: 

(1) A permit fee in the amount of twenty-five dollars ($25.00) per wrecker in 

addition to the applicable City occupation taxes, payable to the City. 

(2) A certification from the City collector's office showing that no delinquent taxes 

are due the City by the applicant. 

(3) Each applicant must provide proof of insurability by a policy of public liability 

and property damage as provided in this section. If insurance of a wrecker company is 

approved, an applicant shall produce and keep in full force and effect a policy of public 



liability and property damage insurance issued by a casualty insurance company authorized 

to do business in the state in the standard form approved by the Arkansas State Insurance 

Department, with the coverage provision insuring the public from loss or damage that may 

arise to any person or property by reason of the operation of a wrecker belonging to the 

applicant and providing that the amount of recovery on each impound wrecker shall be in 

limits of not less than the following sums: 

For damages arising out of bodily injury to or death of one person in any one 

accident .... $100,000.00. 

For damages arising out of bodily injury to or death of two or more persons in any 

one accident ....250,000.00 

For injury to or destruction of property in any one accident ....50,000.00. 

In addition, every wrecker company operating heavy duty wreckers shall maintain 

insurance coverage in compliance with applicable Interstate Commerce Commission (ICC) 

regulations. Further, each permittee shall provide notice to the City within five (5) days of 

any alteration, change or cancellation in its insurance coverage. 

Each permittee hereunder shall furnish a bond in the penal sum of five thousand 

dollars ($5,000.00) conditioned upon the permittee's compliance with all the provisions of 

this article and specifications as contained herein and made payable to the City for the 

benefit of any person injured by any wrongful or neglectful act of the operator in picking 

up, detaining, or releasing any vehicle picked up or handled by the permittee. 

(4) A certification from the City Planning Department certifying that the permanent 

place of business, from which the impound wrecker service will be operated, is a location 

where an impound wrecker service is not prohibited by the comprehensive zoning 

ordinance of the City. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 3, 4-5-82; Ord. No. K-175, § 1, 12-2-85; Ord. No. K-389, § 1, 7-

15-91) 

Sec. 27.5-14. - Permit issuance. 

The chief of police may refuse to issue a new permit or renew a previous permit to 

any applicant for any one of the following: 

(a) The making of any false statement as to a material matter in an application for 

a permit or permit renewal. 

(b) Violation by the applicant, or any employee of the applicant, of a provision of 

this permit article or other City ordinances. 

(c) Revocation of a permit, pursuant to this article, of the applicant, or any 

proprietor, partner, or corporate officer of the applicant within twelve (12) months 

preceding application. 



(d) Use of the applicant of a trade name for his wrecker company other than the one 

registered with the chief of police. 

(e) Failure of the applicant to maintain his wrecker or equipment in a good and safe 

working condition. 

(f) Repeated failure of the applicant's wrecker to arrive at the location dispatched 

within a reasonable time after having been notified to do so by the chief of police or his 

duly authorized designee, which is not to exceed thirty (30) minutes. 

(g) Violation by a wrecker driver/owner of a provision of the criminal laws, motor 

vehicle or traffic laws of this State or City while in the scope of his employment/occupation 

in the rotation wrecker service. 

(h) Refusal to make a call upon request of the chief of police or his designee. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 4, 4-5-82) 

Sec. 27.5-15. - Appeals. 

If the chief of police refuses to approve an original application, a renewal 

application, or suspends or revokes a permit, this action is final unless the applicant, within 

ten (10) days after the date of the action, files a written appeal with the City Manager setting 

forth specific grounds for the appeal. The City Manager shall, within thirty (30) days, grant 

a hearing to consider the action. The City Manager has the authority to sustain, reverse, or 

modify the action appealed. The decision of the City Manager is final. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 5, 4-5-82) 

Sec. 27.5-16. - Powers and duties of the chief of police. 

In addition to the powers and duties elsewhere prescribed in this article, the chief 

of police is authorized to: 

(a) Enforce all provisions of this article. 

(b) Adopt rules and regulations, after reasonable notice to the licensees, not 

inconsistent with the provisions of this article, with respect to the investigation of 

applicants, and other matters incidental or appropriate for the proper enforcement of the 

provisions of this article. 

(c) Conduct, when appropriate, periodic investigations of impound wrecker 

companies throughout the City. 

(d) Keep records of all licenses issued, suspended, or revoked. 

(e) Keep records of all authorized impound wreckers. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 6, 4-5-82) 

Sec. 27.5-17. - Reserved. 



Sec. 27.5-18. - Wrecker rotation list procedure. 

Separate rotation lists will be established for light and heavy-duty wreckers. 

Sec. 27.5-19. - Equipment. 

Every rotation wrecker company or service operating under permit of this article 

shall comply with Arkansas Towing and Recovery Board equipment requirements. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 9, 4-5-82) 

Sec. 27.5-20. - Requirements and operating procedures. 

(a) A wrecker company holding a valid permit shall comply with the following 

requirements: 

(1) Maintain twenty-four-hour, seven-day-a-week service. 

(2) Arrive at the designated scene within a reasonable time after having been 

notified to do so by the chief of police, or his designee. Such response time shall not exceed 

thirty (30) minutes. 

(3) Report to the chief of police all changes in wreckers and equipment used in the 

licensee's rotation wrecker service and render all additional vehicles for inspection by the 

chief of police. A wrecker without a valid wrecker inspection sticker is not allowed to 

participate in the wrecker rotation list. 

(4) Employ wrecker drivers who are not habitual violators of the traffic laws. 

(b) Every driver employed by a permitted wrecker service shall follow the 

directions of the investigating police officer on the scene and shall not interfere in any 

manner with the investigation. No attempt to move or remove a vehicle shall be made 

without the expressed permission of the on-scene police officer. 

(c) No rotation wrecker shall depart an accident scene until all glass and debris has 

been removed from the scene. Such debris shall not be swept to the curb or into any 

drainage culvert, ditch, etc., but shall be completely removed from the scene. In the event 

two (2) or more wreckers are utilized, both drivers shall be co-responsible for debris 

removal. 

(d) Every wrecker company shall provide a secure storage area for vehicles which 

are moved by request or authority of the police department. The storage area shall be either 

a totally enclosed, locked structure or shall be an open area enclosed by a nontransparent 

fence not less than seven (7) feet in height with locked gates or a combination of the two 

(2). The permittee shall assume all liability and shall indemnify and save the City harmless 

for such liability from damages sustained by vehicles while being towed or stored and for 

all personal injuries or claims thereto, arising out of service performed under the provisions 

of this article. Each wrecker company towing such vehicles shall be personally liable to 

the owner for the vehicle and/or its contents. The wrecker company shall inventory the 



contents of each vehicle placed in its custody and shall maintain said list of inventories for 

one (1) year after the release of the vehicle. 

(e) No wrecker company shall release any vehicle in their custody on which 

investigatory or other holds have been placed until ordered by the chief of police or his 

designee, or by the courts. However, upon notification and authorization by the chief of 

police or his designee, and upon payment of the applicable fees, such wrecker company 

shall immediately release the subject vehicle. 

(f) No wrecker driver may proceed to any call with the use of emergency warning 

lights. Warning lights shall be utilized upon arriving at a scene and while towing a vehicle 

only. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 10, 4-5-82; Ord. No. K-389, § 2, 7-15-91) 

Sec. 27.5-21. - Fees for impound wrecker service. 

(a) A wrecker company will not charge fees more than the rates listed in the attached 

Towing and Storage Fee Schedule for non-consent tows and storage. Rates for towing and 

storage will be determined by the board of directors. 

(b) The charge or fee shall be set by the individual wrecker companies but shall not 

exceed the allowable maximum, and the bill for towing will be itemized to reflect the 

services rendered. A copy will be provided to the police department within ten calendar 

days, when requested. 

(c) In the event that the vehicle to be towed requires two (2) or more wreckers to 

prepare it for towing, the initial wrecker operator may call additional assisting wreckers 

and the fee for said assisting wrecker(s) may be added to the initial wrecker fee, provided 

that the fee for each individual wrecker shall not exceed the maximum allowable fee in the 

approved Towing and Storage Fee Schedule.  

(d) A police officer has the right to cancel or refuse wrecker service at any time 

prior to the removal of a vehicle. In the event a dispute arises as to the need of a wrecker, 

the police officer on the scene shall decide, and the officer’s decision is final. 

(e) No provisions contained herein shall be construed to prevent a wrecker company 

from charging less than the maximum allowable fees as established nor to prevent any 

wrecker company from performing any services provided for herein without charge. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 11, 4-5-82; Ord. No. K-171, § 1, 11-4-85; Ord. No. K-324, 11-6-

89; Ord. No. K-389, § 3, 7-15-91; Ord. No. K-523, § 1, 6-5-95; Ord. No. K-563, § 1, 2-5-

96; Ord. No. L-308, §§ 1—4, 1-7-08) 

Sec. 27.5-22. - Special wrecker calls. 

Nothing in this article shall prevent the chief of police from calling a special duty 

wrecker to any location when the need is so determined. In the event the wrecker company 

utilized for a special call is also a member of the rotation list, the special call shall not be 



considered a rotation call and the wrecker company shall continue to occupy its authorized 

position on the rotation list. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 12, 4-5-82) 

Sec. 27.5-23. - Penalty. 

Any person, firm, association, partnership, or corporation in violation of the 

provisions of this article shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon pleading guilty or being 

found guilty therefor shall be fined in a sum not less than twenty-five dollars ($25.00) nor 

more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) for each such offense. Each day that any 

violation of any provision of this article shall continue shall constitute a separate offense. 

(Ord. No. K-10, § 14, 4-5-82) 

Secs. 27.5-24—27.5-40. - Reserved. 

Towing and Storage Fee Schedule 

Light-duty Wrecker Service $200.00 

Wrecker Lot Storage $50.00 per day for any 24-hour period 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of June, 2023.   

 

       ______________________________ 

             Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 











































 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt an Ordinance to rezone a tract of land located at 3604 North 

Stateline Avenue, from C-3 Open-display commercial zoning to C-1 

General retail commercial in order to divide the property. (Ward 4) 

(PWD-Planning) City Planner Mary Beck  

AGENDA DATE: 06/05/2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☒  Resolution☐  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Public Works/Planning 

PREPARED BY: Mary Beck 

REQUEST: Adopt an ordinance to rezone a tract of land located at 3604 North 

Stateline Avenue, from C-3 Open-display commercial zoning to C-1 

General retail commercial in order to divide the property. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: The Planning Commission recommends approval of this rezoning with 

no opposition voted.  Some of the parking for Lee’s Restaurant will 

continue to be on Mr. Patel’s property as part of the sale agreement and 

as approved by the building official.   

EXPENSE REQUIRED: 0 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: 0 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

0 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Adopt an ordinance to rezone property in order to sell Lee’s China 

Restaurant to the long-time business owner(s).     

EXHIBITS: Ordinance, Memo to City Manager, deeds, location/zoning map.  

 



ORDINANCE NO. _________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 

K-286, AS AMENDED; AND FOR OTHER 

PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, an application to amend the Land Use Plan was filed with the 

Planning Commission of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, requesting the following 

described land located at 3604 North Stateline Avenue, be rezoned, as applicable, from C-

3 Open-display commercial to C-1 General retail: 

Lots numbered One through three (1-3) in Block Number Ten (10) of NORTH 

HEIGHTS HOME ADDITION as per the map or plat of said Addition recorded in 

Volume 74, page 65 of the Plat Records of Miller County, Arkansas.  More 

specifically being described as 3604 and 3624 North State Line Avenue, 

Texarkana, Arkansas, 71854.   

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, after public hearing, has approved said 

application and recommended that the Board of Directors of the City of Texarkana, 

Arkansas, adopt the ordinance affecting said rezoning request; and   

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that Ordinance No. K-286, as amended, should be amended to 

rezone the above-described property in the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, from C-3 Open-

display commercial to C-1 General retail.  This is solely a rezoning and no other action, 

conveyance, or release of interest.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of June, 2023.   

 

       ______________________________ 

             Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

_________________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk  
 

APPROVED: 
 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 



 
 
 

 
www.cityoftexarkanaar.com 

 

 
CITY OF TEXARKANA ARKANSAS 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
216 WALNUT ST 71854-6024 
P O BOX 2711 TEXARKANA ARKANSAS 75504-2711 
PHONE (870) 779-4971 – FAX (870) 773-2395 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 

T O :  TyRhonda Henderson, Acting City Manager 
F R O M :  Mary L. Beck, City Planner 
D A T E :  May 10, 2023 
S U B J E C T :  Board of Directors Agenda item for June 5, 2023 – Rezoning 

recommendation – Request by Request by Krisros, Inc., owner Prakash 
Patel, 3602 N. State Line Avenue, Texarkana, AR 71854 to rezone 
property from C-3 Open-display commercial to C-1 General Retail.     
       

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:       
 
The property is legally described as Lots No. 1-3, Block 10, NORTH HEIGHTS HOME 
ADDITION, Texarkana, Miller County, Arkansas and contains 1.56 acres more or less.  The 
property is located at 3604 and 3624 N. State Line Avenue. 
  
REASON FOR REQUEST:    
 
Property owner is selling off three lots of his property and the amount of land being purchased 
is less than the minimum allowed in C-3 Open Display commercial zoning districts.        
 
EXISTING LAND USES:      
 

Site:     Lee’s China & vacant restaurant 
North:   Pizza Inn 
East      Residential rental property 
South:   Teriyaki restaurant 
West:    Texas commercial zone (car wash) 

 
EXISTING ZONING:  
 

Site:     C-3 Open-display commercial  
North:  C-3 Open-display commercial   
South:  C-3 Open-display commercial     
East:    C-3 Open-display commercial   
West:   Texas commercial zoning 

  

http://www.cityoftexarkanaar.com/


 
 
 

 
www.cityoftexarkanaar.com 

COMPATIBILITY WITH EXISTING ZONING: 
 
 

The 1988 Long term comprehensive plan indicates recommendation for continued 
commercial use all along State Line Avenue with only one or two exceptions.  
Commercial land use is very appropriate and although the zoning is C-3 Open-display 
commercial, C-1 General Retail is also a good fit.  Mixed use may also be appropriate 
for purposes of walkability and also as an alternate income source to support 
commercial investments during phases of economic fluctuations where a mix of 
residential and commercial land uses can supplement income opportunities. The 
current land uses are expected to continue at this location with a business tenant 
becoming the property owner for the restaurants.  No conflicts are anticipated and 
changes are likely to be on paper only.   

 

       
UTILITIES & TRANSPORTATION NETWORK: 
 

 
Local :              37th Street 
Collector:          none 
Arterial:             State Line Avenue 
Water:               8” in 37th Street 
                         8” in State Line Avenue 
Sewer:              6” in 37th Street 
Fire hydrant:     located in E. 37th Street approximately 250’ from          
                         the property    
   

 

 
CONFORMANCE WITH APPLICABLE ORDINANCES AND/OR STATE STATUTES: 
 
The Arkansas Code of 1987 Annotated (14-56-422B) requires the following – “All plans, 
recommended ordinances, and regulations shall be adopted through the following procedure 
for adoption of plans and regulations: 
 
(A) The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on the plans, ordinances, and 
regulations proposed under this subchapter. 
 
(B)  Notice of public hearing shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the city, 
at least (1) time fifteen days prior to the hearing. 
 
(2) Following the public hearing, proposed plans may be adopted, and proposed ordinance and 
regulations may be recommended as presented, or in modified form, by a majority vote of the 
entire commission.   
 
(3) Following it adoption of plans and recommendation of ordinances and regulations, the 
commission shall certify adopted plans of recommended ordinances of and regulations to the 
legislative body of the city for its adoption. 
 

http://www.cityoftexarkanaar.com/


 
 
 

 
www.cityoftexarkanaar.com 

(4) The legislative body of the city may return the plans and recommended ordinances and 
regulations to the commission for further study or rectification, or, by a majority vote of the entire 
membership, may, by ordinance or resolution, adopt the plans and recommended ordinances 
or regulations submitted by the commission.  However, noting in this subchapter shall be 
construed to limit the city board’s authority to recall the ordinances and resolutions by a vote of 
a majority of the council. 
 
(5) Following adoption by the legislative body, the adopted plans, ordinances, and regulations 
shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk.  The City Clerk shall file, with the county recorder of 
the counties in which territorial jurisdiction is being exercised such plans, ordinances, and 
regulations as pertain to the territory beyond the corporate limits.  
 
The required notice was published in the Sunday, April 24, 2023 edition of the Texarkana 
Gazette.  Letters were mailed to seven (7) adjacent property owners within 300’ as required by 
local ordinance.  
 
OPPOSITION:  
 

 

None 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION CERTIFICATION: 
 
The Planning Commission met on May 9, 2023, to review this request.  On a motion to approve 
by Mr. Boots Thomas, seconded by Ms. Bertha Dunn, the motion passed.  A roll call vote was 
5-0 as two commissioners were absent.    
 

Adger Smith Yes  
Anderson Neal Yes 
Bertha Dunn Yes 
Jason Dupree Absent 
Randall Hickerson Absent 
Clyde “Boots” Thomas Yes 
Mike Jones                             Yes 

 

  
ACTION REQUESTED BY CITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS: 
  
To adopt an ordinance to change zoning from C-3 Open-display commercial to C-1 General 
retail commercial.   The Arkansas Code of 1987 Annotated requires every ordinance to be read 
three times before adoption.  These three readings may all occur at the same meeting or at the 
second and third subsequent meetings after the first reading of the ordinance.   

 
 

http://www.cityoftexarkanaar.com/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Planning Review 
 

Prepared by: 
Planning Division - Public Works Department 

City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

 











 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution making an appointment to the City Beautiful 

Commission and the Library Board. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

AGENDA DATE: June 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars 

REQUEST: Appointment to the City Beautiful Commission and Library Board 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY:  

Board/Commission Applicant Term 

City Beautiful Commission 

 

Annette Lachowsky No term 

Library Board Connie Brian 01/15/2023----2029 

   
 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, City Beautiful Commission member list, Library member 

list and letter of recommendation 

 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, vacancies exist on various boards and commissions; and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that appointments be made to fill the vacant positions; 

and  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the following appointments are hereby approved: 

 

Board or Commission  Applicant Term  

City Beautiful Commission  Annette Lachowsky No Term  

Library Board Connie Brian 01/15/2023----2029 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of June, 2023.   

      ______________________________ 

             Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 

Jenny Narens, Deputy City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 



CITY BEAUTIFUL COMMISSION  

Authorized by Texarkana Resolution No. 5098 
 

 Appointment Term Date Term 

    

Nedra Turney 

6301 East Broad Street 

870-773-4494 

Resolution No. – N/A 

Appointment 

10/04/2004 

10/04/2004----??? 1 

    

Danny Lewis 

1 Wade Trail 

903-748-9221 (cell-home) 

870-773-8800 (work) 

Resolution No. 5122 

Appointment 

10/04/2004 

10/04/2004----??? 1 

    

Rick Hall  

2020 Beech Street 

870-772-2262(home) 

870-773-8531 (work) 

Resolution No. 5122 

Appointment 

10/04/2004 

10/04/2004----??? 1 

    

Mary Warner 

801 East 12th Street 

870-216-7233 (home) 

870-898-2621 (work) 

Resolution No. – N/A 

Appointment 

10/04/2004 

10/04/2004----??? 1 

    

Wendell Warner 

801 East 12th Street 

870-216-7233 (home) 

Resolution No. 5668 

Appointment 

02/06/2012 

02/06/2011----??? 1 

    

Jeff C. Brown – Chairman 

2217 Laurel  

903-277-0457 (cell) 

903-793-4114 

Resolution No. 6061 

Appointment 

08/05/2013 

08/05/2013----??? 1 

    

Peggy Burson 

1 Lambeth Place 

903-748-8978 

Resolution No. 6124 

Appointment 

03/03/2014 

03/03/2014----??? 1 

    

Clinton Thomas  

5 Webber Street 

870-774-0505 (home) 

Resolution No. 6227 

Appointment 

11/17/2017 

11/17/2014----??? 1 

    

Mary Bryant 

1823 Beech Street 

903-701-3981 

Resolution No. 2019-43 

Appointment  

11/18/2019 

11/18/2019----???  

    



 Thomas Keefer 

1007 Locust Street 

903-949-9769 

Resolution No. 2019-43 

Appointment  

11/18/2019 

11/18/2019----???  

    

Connie Magness 

6508 Wuthering Heights Lane 

903-826-8071 (cell) 

Resolution No. 2021-38 

Appointment  

07/19/2021 

07-19-2021----??? 1 

    

    





LIBRARY BOARD 

Authorized by A.C.A. 13-2-501---510 and Texarkana, Arkansas Code 12-16---19 

6 – YEAR TERMS 
 

 Appointment Term Date Term Ward 

     

Linda Register 

3406 Water Oak Drive 

903-276-4838 

Resolution No. 2019-7 

Appointment  

 

01/15/2019----2025 1 6 

     

Junie Young 

3503 Tiffany Lane 

870-773-4139 

Resolution No. 2021-38 

Reappointment 

 

01/15/2020----2026 2 5 

     

Gary Nutter 

1203 Forest Acres Circle 

870-772-8091 

Resolution No. 2021-38  

Reappointment 

 

01/15/2020----2026 2 1 

     

Pamela Johnson 

10 Pine Trail 

903-293-8188 

Resolution No. 2023-11 

Appointment 

01/15/2023----2029 1 5 

     

Vacancy  01/15/2023----2029   

     

 






	Top
	1.	Employee awards
	item_1_06052023_ccd_employee service awards

	2.	Hazard mitigation
	3.	comp plan presentation
	PowerPoint Moving forward (002) (002)

	4.	Minutes
	item_06052023_ccd_minutes
	item_4_05152023_ccd_minutes
	item_4_05232023_ccd_special called minutes

	5.	Airport ARPA reimbursement
	item_06052023_fin_Airport Reimbursement from ARPA Funds
	Item 5 Airport
	item_06052023_fin_Airport Reimbursement from ARPA Funds

	6.	Parks Truck
	item_06052023_parks_Truck
	Item 6 Pickup Truck
	item_06052023_parks_truck

	7.	Old Blackman Ferry Road Water Extension Project
	item_7_06052023_twu_Old Blackman Ferry Road Summary
	Item 7 Blackmon Ferry Extension
	Old Blackman Ferry Road ATTH02
	Old Blackman Ferry ATTH01

	8.	Rolling Ridge Drive, Dudley Avenue and Woodland Road Rehabilitation Projects. (PWD)
	item_06052023_pwd_Rolling Ridge Dr. Dudley St. & Woodland Rd Agenda
	Item Rolling Ridge Rehab
	13-7BT
	13-7Bid-Francis
	13-7Bid-Contech
	13-7Bid-TEC
	Engineer's Recommendation

	9.	Crossties Contract
	item_8_06052023_admin_crossties agenda form
	Item 8 Crossties
	Crossties contract

	10.	wrecker ordinance
	item_06052023_tapd_Wrecker Agenda Item
	Item 11 Ch 27.5 Wreckers
	Wreckers

	11.	rezone_state_line_ave
	item_06052023_pwd_Rezone State Line Avenue
	Item 10 - Rezone Lee's China
	item_06052023_pwd_Memo to rezone lees china
	map for meeting state line patel
	item_10_06052023_pwd_deed for lees china

	12.	Library Board
	item_06052023_ccd_boards and comm
	Item 12 Appointments
	item_06052023_ccd_boards_City Beautiful Commission
	item_06052023_ccd_boards_Annette Lachowsky_City Beautiful_05182023
	item_06052023_ccd_boards_2023_Library Board
	item_06052023_ccd_boards_Library_Connie Brian

	Bottom

